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and the building that replaced it have passed away and the place is bare and lonely.” Yet the virtues of
hospitality and kindness “amidst all the changes of fortune, time, and people remain unchanged; and without
which properly speaking there could be no Woodville.”"*

In the early twentieth century the final phase of village development was the construction of three Craftsman-
style houses. Thomas W. Griffin preserved the rural village tradition by building his large Colonial Revivatstyle
Craftsman house in an oak grove on the Windsor road in 1917 [Thomas W, Griffin House]. Burges Urquhart
built his daughter Patty and her husband Clifton Whitehead a Craftsman house [Whitehead-Urqubart House} in
1917 on a small lot close to the road across the main road from his house, the old Lewis Thompson place. In
1927 Dr. Frank Garris built an up-to-date brick Crafisman house {Garris-Griffin House] next to St. Frances
Church.  Only two more houses have been erected in the village in the past seventy years--Joe Whitehead’s
brick 1960s ranch house beside Patty and Clifton Whitehead’s house, and a small house constructed in the fork
across from Grace Church in recent years,

To Dr. Smallwood, the village seemed physically ruined at the end of the nineteenth century. Yet to
contemporary visitors at the end of the twentieth century, the rural village with its remarkably intact collection
of federal and antebellum houses and early 20th century Craftsman infill seems a miracle of preservation. The
families who live in Woodville today, most direct descendants of the builders, cherish the village’s history and
architecture and have commissioned this nomination in order to protect it from destructive change. Their biggest
fear is that the main road, the village spine, now designated as Highway 11 and a major north-south truck route,
will be widened, thereby destroying the connection between the two sides of the village.

The Plantation Village in the Roanoke River Valley: Woodville’s Social History Context

Woodville was one of several plantation neighborhoods in the Roancke River Valley, which includes Bertie,
Halifax, Hertford, Martin and Northampton counties, where interconnected families of planters and slaves
formed rural communities. Another such rural village is Como, located between the Meherrin and Chowan
rivers near the Virginta border in northern Hertford County. Across the Roanoke River in adjacent Halifax
County lies Dawson Crossroads-Enfield Plantations, an antebellum plantation neighborhood containing a number
of distinguished plantation houses and a mid-19th century church. Scotland Neck , a nearby town, was a
prosperous area of interconnected plantations like Woodville, but grew into a town when a railroad came
through in 1882. Many such rural communities developed before the Civil War but few survived the breakup of
the plantation system after the war and late 19tlrand 20th—century social and economic changes.

Bertie County and other counties in the region had vast areas of land covered with malaria-infested swamps,
isolated by unpassable rivers. Overland transportation was difficult. Roads were maintained by adjacent
property owners such as Lewis Thompson, who operated two toll gates across roads on his land in the 1860s.

' »Recollections of Woodville, ™.
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Roads were connected to privately-operated river ferries. Even today, the Woodville USGS quadrangle map
remains almost completely covered with forests and swampland with such names as “Buzzard Point” and
“Roquist Pocosin.” The Native American word “pocosin” meant “swamp on a hill,” because these areas are
actually thick beds of peat moss supporting a dense tangle of low plant growth.'> Only a handful of dwellings
stand outside of Woodpville and the neighboring town of Lewiston.

The Roanoke River provided a navigable waterway from Weldon east to Plymouth and the Albemarle Sound,
giving planters in southern Bertie County a convenient route for transporting the crops grown in this fertile soil
to the closest major market in Norfolk, Virginia. By 1756 Roanoke Valley settlers were growing tobacco and
shipping it to Tidewater Virginia. Many large plantations developed along the Roanoke and Chowan Rivers in
Bertie County during the 1700s, such as the Capehart family’s seat, Scotch Hall, at the mouth of the Roanoke
River, the Norfleet family seat, Woodbourne, at Roxobel, and the Pollock family seat, Runiroi, on the Roanoke
River. By 1860, twenty-five Bertie County plantations had 1,000 acres or more, the greatest number of large
plantations of any county in the state. Scotch Hall with its 8,000 acres and 300 slaves was the largest plantation
in Bertie County. By 1800 large scale cotton production had begun. Although tobacco and cotton were the
major crops, farms were diversified in corn, potatoes, wheat and livestock.

In these plantation villages, planters’ wealth was based on the agriculture and forest products of the fertile
Roanoke Valley. Topography, soil and climate combined to make the region ideal for growing crops, especially
corn and cotton. The lands accumulated by Woodville planters, which contained the dark siity loam of the
Roanoke River flood plains, were among the most fertile soils in Bertie County. There were also enormous
populations of free-ranging swine, an essential factor in the farm economy. They were a principal export
product, driven overland by the thousands, as well as a product used freely in houschold consumption." One of
Whitmel Pugh’s principal sources of agricultural income in the early 19th century were his vast swine herds,
whose meat was marketed in Norfolk.

During the nineteenth century the population of the Roanoke Valley was virtually static. In 1810 Bertie had
11,318 people and in 1850 it had 12,851, By the early 19th century wealthy Upper South planters sought
opportunities to invest capital and provide profitable employment for surplus slaves in the cotton and sugar
growing regions of the southwestern states, such as Louisiana and Mississippi. Woodoville’s small ranks were

certainly thinned by such out-migration; members of the Pugh, Thompson, and other Woodville families left for
the Deep South.

" Barley, “The Swamp That Burns,” Wildlife in North Carolina (February 1998).

B Tyler, “A Brief Sketch of Bertie County,” 1985; Mattson, Alexander & Associates, Inc. “Tyrrell County and Northampton
County Reconnaissance Level Surveys,” 1996; Taves, “The Rural Architectural Heritage of Halifax County, North Carolina,”
1989.

¥ Camp, Influence of Geography on Early North Carolina, 7.
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The slave-based plantation economy supported a luxurious way of life. "Planter families enjoyed the pleasures of
horse racing, frequent entertaining, travels to northern cities, and well-stocked larders and libraries.”"’ Rural
neighborhoods such as Woodville were bound to others in the region and to markets in the United States and
throughout the world through complex networks of kinship, politics and trade.'®

The replacement of the plantation economy by the tenant farming system and the lure of town life with its
consolidated schools, railroad lines, and other conveniences caused the demise of plantation villages by the early
twentieth century. While the plantation landscape of the Roanoke Valley is largely gone, the plantation village of
Woodville retains its antebellum appearance because it has always been a compact cluster of small country
estates rather than widely dispersed plantations.

Roanoke River Valley Architecture Context

Woodpville contains a distinguished group of six generally intact Federal and Greek Revival plantation houses,
four of them two-story and two of them one-story, set well back from the road in spacious grounds landscaped
with large hardwood trees. The unique blending of vernacular building traditions and stylish patternbook design
found throughout the Roanoke Valley region is represented in microcosm in Woodville. Most of the formal rural
residences of the antebellum era were in the northern tier of eastern North Carolina counties where the plantation
economy supported a luxurious way of life. Planter families of the region “built and furnished their homes with a
fashion-conscious blend of regional and urban elements.... Working with local or regional artisans...planters

incorporated into their houses a dynamic biend of stylish models, imported items, customary forms, and various
crafismen’s personal styles.” !’

A small group of tripartite plantation villas survive in the Roanoke Valley. The tripartite Whitmel Pugh House of
1801, the only example in Bertie County, represents the delicate craftsmanship of local artisans. Its ornate front

gable pediment is finished like that of The Hermitage, the home of Thomas Blount Hill and Rebecca Norfleet,
built about 1800 in Halifax County.

Most substantial Bertie County antebellum dwellings conform to two architectural forms: the coastal cottage (a
one-story house with engaged front porch), or the two-story side-gable house with a small front porch.
Although single-pile, these two-story houses were generously proportioned, sometimes being five or even seven
bays wide. The Bazemore House, a one-story coastal cottage, has ornate Federal interior finish similar to that of

% Bishir, North Carolina Architecture, 82.
* Ibid.

' Bishir and Southern, A4 Guide to the Historic Architecture af Eastern North Curolina, 295, North Carolina Architecture, 82.
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the ¢. 1807 King-Freeman-Speight House in Bertie County. Its parlor mantel is quite similar to a mantel in the
Bazemore House. The William Pugh House, a two-story side gable house, is one of the most intact ornate
Federal houses in eastern North Carolina. Its exuberant plasterwork was surely executed by the same artisan
who worked at Woodbourne, a tripartite house built c. 1810 at Roxobel for Thomas Figures Norfleet.

The ca. 1840 Thompson-Urquhart House is a characteristic two-story, three-bay hip roofed Greek Revival
plantation house of the Roanoke Valley. Its original airy sawnwork porch (now replaced) was a specialty of the
type. A similar house of about 1840 is Hickory Hill, in the Hamilton vicinity of Martin County across the
Roanoke River. The Averitt-Pugh-Thompson House, a two-story double pile house in the locally popular Greek
Revival-Italianate idiom, retains hood molds similar to those at the nearby Lewis Cotten House (demolished)
which stood near Roxobel. Before it lost its original porch, the Averitt-Pugh-Thompson House may have
resembled The Cedars (Speight House) in nearby Edgecombe County, built ca. 1860. Its design features the
Italianate vernacular at its liveliest, with hood molds and a fanciful lattice porch.”®  When Thomas Thompson
built his Italianate one-story house on Canady’s Hill about 1863 he may have been influenced by William
Ranleit’s popular 1847 patternbook, The Architect. The Garrett-Wiggins House in Edgeconibe County was built
in 1854, its lavish Italianate details probably drawn from this book.' The 1845 St. Frances Methodist Church,
attributed to regional builder Thomas Bragg, is a simple Greek Revival building with a fine interior. Grace
Episcopal Church of 1854 reflects pattern book Gothic Revival designs popular at the time.

Antebellum outbuildings, including slave quarters surviving at the Thompson-Urquhart House and perhaps at
the William Pugh House, an overseer’s house at Thompson-Urquhart House, meat houses, dairies, and general
storage buildings, provide a remarkable material record of the activities of antebellum plantations. The two late

19th century brick outbuildings, one a dairy and one an ice house, at the Thompson-Urquhart House are of
particular architectural merit for their creative eave ventilation features.

Like other well-to-do farmers of northeastern North Carolina, Woodville’s citizens turned to Norfolk, Virginia
not just as a market where they sold agricultural products and purchased goods, but also as a cultural center.

8 4 Guide to the Historic Architecture of Eastern North Carolina, 321.

¥ bid., 325.
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About 1917 Woodyville farmer Thomas W. Griffin hired Philip B. Moser of Norfolk to design his farmhouse. The
large, unpretentious Colonial Revival house has a gambrel roof, large shed dormer, elegant Craftsman-inspired
built-in cupboard, and other Craftsman appointments, including a staircase, mantels and trim. Burges Urquhart
and Dr. Frank Garris probably utilized mail-order plans for the stylish Craftsman houses they had built in
Woodpville about this time. The plantation village of Woodbville thus represents the architectural traditions of the
Roanoke Valley from the early nineteenth to the early twentieth centuries.



NPS Form 10-900-a

OMB No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTCRIC PLACES
CONTINUATICN SHEET

Section 9_ Page 24

Woodpville Historic District

Bertie County, North Carolina

Section 9: Bibliography

Bertie County Census Records, Deeds, and Wills, N.C. State Archives.

Bishir, Catherine W. North Carolina Architecture. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina press, 1990.

Bishir, Catherine W. and Michael T. Southern. 4 Guide fo the Historic Architecture of Eastern North Carolina,
Chapel Hill;: University of North Carolina Press, 1996,

Bullock, J. Marshall. “Whitmel Hill Pugh,” Dictionary of North Carolina Biography, V. Edited by William S.
Powell. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1994.

Camp, Cordelia. The Influence of Geography Upon Early North Carolina. Raleigh: Carolina Charter
Tercentenary Commission, 1963. '

“Confederate Tax Census for Bertie County, N.C., 1862.” Typescript prepared by students at Roanoke-
Chowan Academy, 1975-76.

Earley, Lawrence S. “The Swamp That Burns,” Wildlife in North Carolina (February 1998): 13-18.

Kane, Harnett T. Plantation Parade: The Grand Manner in Louisiana. New York: William Morrow and
Company, 1945.

Mattson, Alexander & Associates, Inc. “Tyrrell County and Northampton County Reconnaissance Level
Surveys,” North Carolina Historic Preservation Office, 1996.

Rawls, Moore. Diary, 1851-1858. Collection of Mrs. Joseph W. Parker, Windsor, N.C.

Sitterson, Joseph Carlyle. “Lewis Thompson, A Carolinian and His Louisiana Plantation 1848-1888. A Study in
Absentee Ownership.” Essays in Southern History. Essays in Southern History. Chapel Hill, c. 1925.

Smallwood, Dr. Charles. “Recollections of Woodville.” 1894. Original in the Southern Historical Collection,
University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill. Published in Bertie Ledger, Windsor, N.C. September 28, 1972.

Taves, Henry V. “The Rural Architectural Heritage of Halifax County, North Carolina.” North Carolina
Historic Preservation Office, 1989.



NPS Form 10-900-3

CMB No. 1024-0018
{8-886}

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section 9 Page 25

Woodville Historic District
Bertie County, North Carolina

Thompson, Lewis, Collection, ¢. 1840-1871. Southern Historical Collection, University of North Carolina,
Chapel Hill.

Tyler, John E. “A Brief Sketch of Bertie County.” Brochure. 1985.



NPS form 10G~900-a

oMB No., 1024-0013
(8-886)

United States Department of the Interior
National ParK Service

NATIONAL, REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section 10 Page 26
Woodville Historic District
Bertie County, North Carolina

Section 10: Geographical Data

Verbal Boundary Description

The boundaries of the Woodville Historic District, irregularly shaped, are outlined in black on the accompanying
district map, a composite of Bertie County Tax Maps 5835 and 5836.

Boundary Justification

The boundaries include the primary buildings, outbuildings, and appropriate landscape settings for each historic
property. The boundaries include an appropriate amount of setting to convey the rural character of the district. In
some cases, lot lines are not followed because they contain more than the maximum amount of acreage allowable
for setting, or because the home tract omits the vista to the main road. The amount of cultivated acreage included
in the boundaries is small, and an agricultural context was not written for this district because the farms were
physically removed from the village during the period of significance.
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Photographs:
The following information pertains to all photographs:

Photographer: M. Ruth Little
Date: November 1997
Location of negatives: North Carolina Historic Preservation Office, Raleigh

A. Thompson-Urquhart House, view from west

B. St. Frances Methodist Cemetery, view from west

C. Averitt-Pugh-Thompson House, view from west

D. Thomas W. Griffin House, view from south

E. Thomas W. Griffin House, view of outbuildings from west

F. Rectory (Wooten-Grant-Griffin House), view from north

G. Grace Episcopal Church, view from southeast

H. Grace Episcopal Church, view from southwest

1. Grace Episcopal Church, interior

J. William A, Pugh House, view from north

K. William A. Pugh House, with possible slave quarter in foreground, view from north
L. William A. Pugh House, view from west

M. William A. Pugh House, south parlor

N. Thompson-Urquhart House, cellar building, view from southwest
O. Thompson-Urquhart House, slave quarter, view from southeast
P. Hill-Pugh-Mizell House, view from east

Q. Hill-Pugh-Mizell House, rear view from northwest

R. Hill-Pugh-Mizell House, stair in front hall, first floor

S. Joe Whitehead House, view from east

T. Bazemore House, view from southeast

U. Thomas W. Thompson House, view from east

V. Thomas W. Thompson House, view of dairy from northeast
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